
ANNUAL 
REPORT 
2018|2019

INSTITUTE FOR STRATEGIC REFLECTION (MISTRA) 



MAPUNGUBWE INSTITUTE FOR STRATEGIC REFLECTION (MISTRA) ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | 2019

1

CONTENTS
Message from the Chairperson of the Council of Advisors 2

Message from the Chairperson of the Board of Governors 4

Preface by the Executive Director 6

Governance 8

Organisation 14

Research 18

Project Management 24

Commissioned Research and Consultancies 25

Operations 29

Communications and Outreach 30

Strategic Reflections 32

Publications 36

Information Management 37

Financial Statements 38



MAPUNGUBWE INSTITUTE FOR STRATEGIC REFLECTION (MISTRA) ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | 2019   

2

GERALDINE 
FRASER-MOLEKETI

MESSAGE FROM THE 
CHAIRPERSON  
OF THE COUNCIL  
OF ADVISORS 
2018/2019

Sadly, as a country we have not been immune to this narrative. 

It has been a year in which MISTRA has been challenged to 

continue to address the complex issues it set out to do at its 

inception in the areas of nation formation, economic growth, 

social equity, science and technology, and the country’s 

positioning in a globalised world.

It has been a year that challenged our ability to recognise 

the shifts towards a more positive period, one in which 

opportunities to further transform as well as deepen our 

25-year-old democracy came to bear.

It is in this context that MISTRA’s Council of Advisors instilled 

new energy in fulfilling its role to advise on the Institute’s 

strategic direction, its work, and the broad trajectory of its 

Priority Research Projects. Hopefully, in so doing, we can 

counter the narrative of an ‘age of hegemony.’

As the Institute approaches its first decade, we are proud of the 

legacy and tradition of contributing to the practice of long-term 

strategic thinking not only in the country, but also on the rest of 

the continent and as a member of the global community.

The past year has been a significant year for the Council in 

consolidating its collective thinking, expertise and guidance 

to the strategic intent of the Institute. It has been a positive 

time for honing the rich perspectives and contributions of 

its members, all distinguished leaders and contributors to 

South Africa’s transformation, to furthering MISTRA’s vision. 

The Council’s annual meeting provided a stimulating space 

to engage, reflect on opportunities and threats in the socio-

THERE CAN BE NO DOUBT THAT WE 
ARE IN A GLOBAL CONTEXT THAT IS 
DESCRIBED, NOT SURPRISINGLY, AS 
‘AN AGE OF HEGEMONY’ OR ‘QUASI-
HEGEMONY’ BY ONE DOMINANT 
SET OF CORE BELIEFS, IN WHICH 
ANY CONFLICTING SET IS INSTANTLY 
DISMISSED. 
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political, knowledge and information environments for 

MISTRA. Members engaged in interrogating the philosophical, 

theoretical and strategic underpinnings of our social context, 

and the events unfolding within it.

The Council has also begun to reap the rewards of closer 

alignment with the Board of Governors through stronger 

interaction between the two structures on key issues relating to 

its strategic intent.

Matters of institutional development and continuity were top 

of mind as members looked ahead to how MISTRA will retain 

its founding principles whilst responding to a rapidly changing 

world.

All told, this year can best be described as an interesting time 

from which to leap into the new.

Appreciation of the commitment of members of Council and 

their insights and wisdom must be expressed.  

Highlights of the year
As will be attested to in this Annual Report, MISTRA has 

contributed substantially and significantly to several issues 

pertinent to South Africa’s national development.

• Key contributions made through the Priority Research 

Projects, of which we are extremely proud are:

– The Ethics and Applications of Nanotechnology and Bio-

Economics in South Africa, which addresses the evolution 

of nanotechnology and bio-technology and their impact 

on society and the ethics of developing nanotechnology.

– The Future of Mining in South Africa: Sunset or Sunrise? 

which asks fundamental questions about the sector’s 

restructuring within the context of a transformed 

domestic and global political economy.

– Traditional Leaders in a Democracy: Resources, Respect 

and Resistance, which contributes to the debates and 

policies relating to traditional leadership in South Africa.

• A critical contribution to strategic long-term thinking in 

South Africa has no doubt been MISTRA’s work on the 

Indlulamithi South Africa Scenarios 2030 project. The 

questions: What would a socially cohesive South Africa look 

like? And to what degree is this attainable by 2030? have 

been explored with a wide range of South Africans resulting 

in an expression of hope for better social cohesion.

• MISTRA has maintained its ranking in the 2017 Global Go-To 

Think Tank Index in the Top 50 Think Tanks in Sub-Saharan 

Africa out of a total of 664 think tanks, produced by the 

Think Tanks and Civil Societies Program (TTCSP) of the 

Lauder Institute at the University of Pennsylvania. MISTRA is 

ranked at 37 in the Top Think Tanks with Annual Operating 

Budgets of Less Than USD 5 million. We are indeed proud of 

this recognition.

• During this year, the Council endorsed the proposed 

research topics for the period 2022-2025.

In conclusion, I wish to thank the members of the MISTRA 

community – Council, Board, management and staff for 

contributing richly to developing new insights into the journey 

ahead both for the Institute as well as the country.

As you read this report, my hope is that you are enriched and 

inspired by the work of MISTRA.

THE PAST YEAR HAS BEEN A 
SIGNIFICANT YEAR FOR THE 
COUNCIL IN CONSOLIDATING 
ITS COLLECTIVE THINKING, 
EXPERTISE AND GUIDANCE TO 
THE STRATEGIC INTENT OF THE 
INSTITUTE.

“

”
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Today, more than ever, we see the value of MISTRA’s founding 

vision of drawing together independent and rigorous thinkers, 

mindful of South Africa’s history of oppression and struggle, to 

address the challenges we inherited upon liberation. In its nine 

years of existence, MISTRA has never shrunk from asking the 

hard, sometimes bitter questions that must be addressed if the 

needs of a nation longing for education, health, employment, 

land and security are to be met. 

The past year has been no exception. MISTRA has remained 

true to its guiding principles. It has addressed issues of a range 

and diversity that few other ‘think’ organisations do, and has 

gone beyond narrow academic channels to do so. Key research 

projects have resulted in publications on subjects ranging from 

the use, and the ethics, of nanotechnology in South Africa, to 

the future of the mining industry in our country – again looking 

at both ethical and humanitarian issues as well as economic 

ones – to the complex and controversial subject of traditional 

leadership in South Africa today. Other illustrations of MISTRA’s 

AS THE PERIOD COVERED IN THIS 
ANNUAL REPORT WAS DRAWING 
TO A CLOSE, SOUTH AFRICA WAS 
PREPARING TO GO A NATIONAL 
ELECTION FOR THE SIXTH TIME IN 
ITS YOUNG DEMOCRACY. 

MISTRA’S COMMITMENT TO 
INTEGRITY AND EXCELLENCE IN 
THE PURSUIT OF KNOWLEDGE 
HAS NEVER BEEN MORE 
RELEVANT.

“
”

PROF SIBUSISO 
VIL-NKOMO

MESSAGE FROM THE 
CHAIRPERSON OF  
THE BOARD OF  
GOVERNORS
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diverse intellectual exploration were its book on whiteness, 

and the roundtables it convened, made up of researchers and 

practitioners, to discuss the way forward for the platinum group 

metals industry in our country. Through these varied initiatives, 

MISTRA fulfilled its goal of impacting on public discourse and 

national policy. 

In addition, MISTRA partnered with other organisations to 

undertake the Indlulamithi South Africa Scenarios 2030. The 

initiative explores questions around what it would take to create 

a future of social cohesion in South Africa. Its first findings were 

presented in a vivid and colourful ceremony attended by some 

of South Africa’s most prominent leaders, past and present. 

Dancers, actors and speakers were utilised to present the 

possible scenarios facing South Africa. 

MISTRA did not neglect the future of its own organisation 

either. Over the past year, the Institute generated its 2018–

2021 Strategic Plan to lay the foundations for a new growth 

trajectory into 2030. Through this long-term strategy, MISTRA 

demonstrated its determination to expand the organisation to 

give it a leading position in strategic research in South Africa 

and the rest of the continent. Under the Board’s leadership, 

the Institute committed to exploring new and varied ways 

of achieving this including adopting what it calls a ‘business 

unusual’ approach. We are confident that the next year will be 

one in which MISTRA continues to maintain its unique position 

in South Africa’s intellectual and policy landscape.   

The Board expresses its deepest appreciation to all the donors, 

organisations and individuals who have helped MISTRA to 

carry out its work over the past year. We are living in an era 

of profound change, with risks to a humane future in South 

Africa and globally some would say to the planet’s very survival.  

MISTRA’s commitment to integrity and excellence in the pursuit 

of knowledge has never been more relevant.  With your help, 

MISTRA will continue its efforts to put knowledge in the service 

of a future of peace, prosperity and general human fulfilment in 

our country, on the African continent, and across the globe.

IN ITS NINE YEARS OF EXISTENCE, 
MISTRA HAS NEVER SHRUNK 
FROM ASKING THE HARD, 
SOMETIMES BITTER QUESTIONS 
THAT MUST BE ADDRESSED IF THE 
NEEDS OF A NATION LONGING 
FOR EDUCATION, HEALTH, 
EMPLOYMENT, LAND AND 
SECURITY ARE TO BE MET. 

“

”
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The report provides a comprehensive account of the Institute’s 

contribution to strategic, policy and other debates in South 

Africa and further afield. It reflects the evolution of an 

organisation that is maturing in terms of the content of its 

research, the impact of its offerings and the organisational 

reach of its networks.

The year under review has been a momentous one for South 

Africa, with changes in the country’s political leadership, the 

public airing of instances of malfeasance and the beginning 

of electoral contestation. On the African continent and in the 

broader global arena, major developments have taken place 

in the political economy, with significant implications for 

humanity’s future. All this underlines the critical importance of 

a strong ‘think industry’ and the need, in particular, for strategic 

reflections on issues beyond the immediate horizon.

During the period under review, MISTRA completed three 

priority research projects on Traditional Leaders in a 

Democracy: Resources, Respect and Resistance; The Future 

of Mining in South Africa: Sunset or Sunrise? ; and Beyond 

Imagination: The Ethics and Applications of Nanotechnology 

and Bio-Economics in South Africa. The books were 

accompanied by policy briefs and a variety of engagements 

aimed at embedding the recommendations into planning and 

policy generation by public, private and other stakeholders. The 

engagements variously included roundtables, presentations at a 

range of fora and consultancy work informed by the outcomes 

of the research.

THE MAPUNGUBWE INSTITUTE FOR 
STRATEGIC REFLECTION (MISTRA) 
RELEASES THIS ANNUAL REPORT 
FOR THE 2018/2019 FINANCIAL YEAR 
AS IT APPROACHES TEN YEARS OF 
ITS EXISTENCE. 

JOEL 
NETSHITENZHE

PREFACE BY THE 
EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR
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In June 2018, MISTRA – in partnership with various stakeholders 

– launched the Indlulamithi South Africa Scenarios 2030. The 

initiative focuses on social cohesion and, drawing on extensive 

research and consultations, it maps out probable trajectories 

that South African society can follow in the next decade. 

Building on the pre-launch consultations, the Indlulamithi 

team presented the storylines to a variety of leaders across the 

country, facilitating debate and wind-tunnelling. 

MISTRA has also continued with scenario planning on 

transitioning to a low-carbon future. This forms part of the 

unique offerings provided by the Institute to clients, among 

which were contributions to preparations for the Jobs Summit 

and peer review of sections of the government’s Twenty-Five 

Year Review. At the same time, the work on the Hydrogen 

Economy has continued apace, with the annual roundtable of 

stakeholders and continuing research on the desirability and 

practicability of establishing a Platinum Group Metals (PGM) 

Exchange in South Africa. 

The Institute also published a book on Whiteness, Afrikaans, 

Afrikaners, based on a conference held earlier to take forward 

discourse on nation formation and social cohesion.

To extend the reach and deepen the impact of the Institute, 

MISTRA staff participated in a variety of seminars, conferences 

and panel discussions in South Africa and abroad. These 

included the Africa Innovation Summit and the Conference on 

Inclusive Youth Employment as well as events organised by the 

International Platinum Association, BRICS and the Association 

for Mathematics Education. The Institute has also intensified 

public communication through working papers, articles, 

interviews and social media platforms.

The highlight of MISTRA’s public engagements was the 

Mapungubwe Annual Lecture which in 2018 was presented by 

Zimbabwean author, Tsitsi Dangarembga.  

Working with its local publishing partner, Jacana Media and a 

new international distributor, the African Books Collective, the 

Institute has extended the reach of its publications. Besides 

distribution on electronic platforms, several publications have 

had to be reprinted to meet demand. 

The long-term planning process which took place in the 

previous financial year has informed the initiation of new 

research projects which will be undertaken well into the next 

decade. These range from the land question to the Fourth 

Industrial Revolution, political coalitions, the role of the youth 

and case studies on the fate of South African innovations.

The depth of the Institute’s research is accompanied by robust 

organisational systems. For the ninth year in a row, MISTRA attained 

an unqualified audit opinion from its external auditors. The Institute 

receives wise counsel and undergoes rigorous supervision on these 

two legs of its work from the Council of Advisors and the Board 

of Governors. These leaders, the staff, the network of researchers 

and the donors constitute members of the MISTRA family who are 

indispensable to the Institute’s success. 

Joel Netshitenzhe
Executive Director

THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW HAS 
BEEN A MOMENTOUS ONE FOR 
SOUTH AFRICA, WITH CHANGES 
IN THE COUNTRY’S POLITICAL 
LEADERSHIP, THE PUBLIC AIRING 
OF INSTANCES OF MALFEASANCE 
AND THE BEGINNING OF 
ELECTORAL CONTESTATION.

“

”

3
books published, arising out of priority 
research projects

1
book published from a MISTRA 
Roundtable

10
events held by MISTRA

1
annual lecture hosted
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GOVERNANCE 
Legal Status
MISTRA WAS ESTABLISHED AS A SECTION 21 (NON-PROFIT) COMPANY IN 
FEBRUARY 2010 IN TERMS OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN COMPANIES ACT. THE 
INSTITUTE IS GOVERNED BY A MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION, WHICH IS 
IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE COMPANIES ACT.
In November 2010, the Institute was granted Public Benefit Organisation (PBO) status by the South African Revenue Service, allowing 

it, among others, to issue tax-deductible receipts to donors. The Institute is also registered as a Non-Profit Organisation (NPO).

Approach to Governance
The Institute applies the highest standards of corporate governance, with three levels of governance: a Council of Advisors, a Board of 

Governors, and a Management Committee (MANCO). It has also chosen to apply the relevant King III and IV principles, including annual 

external financial auditing, and to be subject to internal monitoring by MISTRA’s Social and Ethics Committee. The Company Secretary is 

responsible for the governance framework of the Institute, intended to safeguard MISTRA’s integrity and promote the highest ethical standards.

Council of Advisors
The Council of Advisors consists of highly-respected 

South Africans who, collectively, reflect the objectives of 

the Institute. The role of the Council is, inter alia, to:

1
act as an advisory reference group on the 

broad direction of the Institute’s work and, 

individually and collectively, contribute to the 

Institute’s broad strategic research agenda;

2
reflect and advise on strategic issues within the 

research agenda of the Institute;

3
promote the profile of the Institute 

domestically and internationally;

4
contribute to institutional development and 

resource mobilisation; and 

5
assist in building partnerships within South 

Africa and internationally.

Members of the Council are:

• Geraldine Fraser-Moleketi (Chairperson)

• Oyama Mabandla (Deputy Chairperson)

• Jenny Cargill

• Luli Callinicos

• Adrian Enthoven

• Reuel Khoza

• Barbara Masekela

• Abdul Minty

The Chairperson of the Board of Governors, the 

Executive Director, the Director of Operations and 

Company Secretary of the Institute also attend 

meetings of the Council of Advisors. 

At its annual meeting in October 2018, the Council 

debated strategy in relation to local and global issues 

and their relevance to the Institute’s research over 

the next three years. The Council also endorsed the 

proposed research topics for the period 2022-2025. 

After undertaking a self-evaluation process during the 
year, the Council undertook to strengthen its advisory 
role by hosting a strategic dialogue with the Institute’s 
researchers. This is intended to facilitate the exchange 
of research ideas and ensure that MISTRA’s research 
undertakings are relevant to and advance the Institute’s 
goals. The first meeting will take place in the next 
reporting period. 

• 
• • • • 



MAPUNGUBWE INSTITUTE FOR STRATEGIC REFLECTION (MISTRA) ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | 2019

9

Board of Governors
The Board of Governors of the Institute was initially 

established in July 2010 and consisted of 24 South 

Africans with expertise and experience in areas 

relevant to the Institute’s work. In the 2013/14 

reporting period, there was Board renewal after 

membership reduced to 18.  

The Board exercises fiduciary responsibility by 

ensuring that the Institute operates in accordance 

with relevant laws, regulations, and corporate 

governance principles. Its general mandate is to 

supervise management of the Institute and ensure 

that the best interests of the Institute are served. 

The Board, inter alia:

1
provides guidance on the broad direction 

of the Institute’s work by approving, 

monitoring, and evaluating the strategic 

plans of the Institute;

2
contributes to the Institute’s strategic 

content;

3
exercises oversight on governance matters 

relating to the operations of the Institute, 

including approval of corporate governance 

principles as well as human resources and 

compensation policies;

4
acts as the public face of the Institute on 

strategic governance matters;

5
contributes to building domestic and 

international partnerships;

6
receives reports from management and 

takes strategic decisions on matters of 

governance;

7 exercises oversight with regard to the 

management of the funds of the Institute, 

and, in this regard, approves investment 

policies, budgets and financial statements; 

8
ensures appropriate systems to manage 

risks; and

9 contributes to fund-raising initiatives.

The Executive Director of the Institute is also the Vice 

Chairperson of the Board of Governors. The Director Operations 

is an ex-officio member of the Board.

The MISTRA governors are: 

• Professor Sibusiso Vil-Nkomo (Chairperson)

• Joel Netshitenzhe (Executive Director and Vice 

Chairperson)

• Tanya Abrahamse

• Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa

• Patricia Hanekom

• Jean-Marie Jullienne

• Malose Kekana

• Brigitte Mabandla

• Mosibudi Mangena 

 

• Kgabele Solomon Mapaila

• Zamandlovu Ndlovu

• Fébé Potgieter-Gqubule 

• Tshilidzi Ratshitanga

• Sibusiso Sibisi 

• Peter Vundla

• Barry Gilder (Director 

Operations, ex-officio)

The Board of Governors met three times during the 

reporting year: in March, August, and November 2018. 

The Board undertook a self-evaluation with the aim of 

identifying and addressing its strengths and weaknesses, 

and of refining the Board’s expectations for itself. 

Board Subcommittees
The Board has five subcommittees to support the 

fulfilment of its mandate, namely:

Strategy and Resource Mobilisation Committee

Audit and Risk Committee

Remuneration and Nominations Committee

Social and Ethics Committee

Investment Commission

• 
• • 
• • • 
• 
• • 

···°(;) Q • 
···o· 

~ 
0 
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The Strategy Committee met three times during the reporting year: in June and October 2018 and in  

February 2019.

Strategy and Resource Mobilisation Committee

This committee serves as the Board of 

Governors’ executive committee, tasked with 

providing strategic guidance and support to the 

Institute’s management between meetings of 

the full Board of Governors. 

The functions of the committee are to:

• consider urgent Board matters in between meetings 

of the Board;

• provide guidance to the Institute’s management on 

key issues relating to the development and activities 

of the Institute;

• provide support to the Institute management on 

resource mobilisation;

• consider regular management, financial and budget 

reports;

• approve budget variances within parameters set by 

the Board; and

• decide on any other matter delegated to it by the 

Board.

The Strategy and Resource Mobilisation Committee is chaired by Professor Vil-Nkomo and its membership consists of:

• Barry Gilder

• Patricia (Trish) Hanekom

• Jean-Marie Jullienne

• Malose Kekana

• Zamandlovu Ndlovu

• Joel Netshitenzhe

• Peter Vundla

CCC 

CJ"" CCC 
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The Audit and Risk Committee met three times during the reporting year: in June and October 2018 and in 

February 2019.

Audit and Risk Committee

The functions of the Audit and Risk Committee are to:

• nominate for appointment, as auditor of the 

Institute under section 90, a registered auditor 

independent of the Institute;

• determine the fees to be paid to the auditor and 

the auditor’s terms of engagement;

• ensure that the appointment of the auditor 

complies with the provisions of the Companies Act 

and other legislation relating to the appointment of 

auditors; 

• determine the nature and extent of any non-

audit services that the auditor may provide to the 

Institute, or that the auditor must not provide to 

the Institute; 

• pre-approve any proposed agreement with the 

auditor for the provision of non-audit services to 

the Institute;

• prepare a report to be included in the annual 

financial statements for that financial year:

– describing how the Audit and Risk Committee 

carried out its functions;

– stating whether the Audit and Risk Committee 

is satisfied that the auditor was independent of 

the Institute;

– commenting in any way that the Audit and 

Risk Committee considers appropriate on the 

financial statements, the accounting practices, 

and the internal financial controls of the 

Institute;

• receive and deal appropriately with any concerns 

or complaints, whether from within or outside the 

Institute, or on its own initiative, relating to:

– the accounting practices and internal audit of 

the Institute;

– the content or auditing of the Institute’s financial 

statements;

– the internal financial controls of the Institute, and

– any related matter;

• make  submissions to the Board of Governors on 

any matter concerning the Institute’s accounting 

policies, financial controls, records and reporting; 

and

• perform other functions determined by the Board 

of Governors, including the development and 

implementation of a policy and plan for a systematic, 

disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 

effectiveness of risk management, control, and 

governance processes within the Institute.

The Audit and Risk Committee is chaired by Patricia (Trish) Hanekom and its members, appointed by the Board, are:

• Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa 

• Loyiso Ntshikila (external member and former 

MISTRA Financial Manager)

• Sibusiso Sibisi

• Peter Vundla

~ ---

I 
CJCJCJ 
c, r, c, 
CJCJCJ 
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The Remuneration and Nominations Committee assists 

the Board in setting and administering remuneration 

policies as well as processing nominations for further 

appointments to the Board and senior managers. Its 

role is to assist the Board in ensuring that:

• the Institute remunerates directors and executives 

fairly and responsibly;

• the Institute adopts remuneration policies 

aligned with its strategy and linked to individual 

performance; 

• the remuneration policy addresses base pay and 

bonuses, employee contracts, severance and 

retirement benefits, and other long-term incentive 

schemes; and

• the Institute discloses the remuneration of each 

individual member of the Board of Governors and 

certain senior executives, including: 

– all benefits paid to the Board of Governors; 

– all salaries of the three most highly paid 

employees who are not Governors;

– incentive schemes to encourage retention; 

– justification of salaries above the median; and 

– material payments that are ex-gratia in nature.

REMCO is also tasked with processing the appointment 

of senior staff and making recommendations to the 

Board of Governors.

The Social and Ethics Committee is made up of the 

Board of Governors. The Executive Director and 

Director Operations at MISTRA are ex-officio members 

of the Committee. The Company Secretary acts as 

Secretariat to the Committee.

The key function of the Committee is to monitor 

MISTRA’s social impact in relation to five areas:

1) social and economic development; 

2) good corporate citizenship; 

3) the environment, health, and public safety; 

4) consumer relationships; and

5) labour and employment. 

In doing so, it takes into consideration current legal 

requirements and prevailing codes of best practice.

The Management Committee (MANCO) is responsible 

for implementing policies and decisions of the Social 

and Ethics Committee, and accounts to the Committee 

and the Board on social and ethics matters.

Remuneration and Nominations Committee (REMCO)

Social and Ethics Committee

 The REMCO is chaired by Peter Vundla and its members, appointed by the Board are:

• Brigitte Mabandla

• Mosibudi Mangena

• Kgabele Solly Mapaila

• Zamandlovu Ndlovu

REMCO met in March 2018 to approve staff annual salary adjustments and to conduct interviews with 

candidates for the position of the Director: Research.

The Social and Ethics Committee met in March 2018. In addition to standard social and ethics matters, 

they discussed MISTRA’s impact on the policy environment and broader society, in light of a previous 

benchmarking study which assessed MISTRA’s unique positioning in the current knowledge industry 

landscape.

0 

Goooom -----------------
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In March 2018, the Board of Governors resolved to resuscitate its Investment Commission with a view to the 

Commission developing and implementing a financial sustainability plan for the Institute’s aims and strategies.  

The Commission has been delegated the full powers of the Board to oversee the investment of shares, cash and 

other assets of the Institute to generate returns on investments to finance the Institute

Investment Commission

The Investment Commission is chaired by Malose Kekana. The deputy chair is Peter Vundla. Its members, 

appointed by the Board are:

• Gloria Britain (Company Secretary) 

• Jenny Cargill

• Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa

• Barry Gilder 

• Bridgette Mabandla

• Joel Netshitenzhe

• Lorraine Pillay (Secretariat)

• Prof Sibusiso Vil-Nkomo

The Investment Commission met in August 2018 to consider its terms of reference, a draft Investment 

Charter and an investment strategy.

Patrons
In addition to the above governance structures and committees, MISTRA has three patrons who advise and support the Institute. Mr 

Tokyo Sexwale, Mr Muthanyi Robinson Ramaite and Dr Thandi Ndlovu. 

@ 

[J[J[J 
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Strategy

Strategic Planning

The BoG approved a long-term strategy for MISTRA 

at its November 2017 meeting. The strategy: ‘From 

Consolidation to Growth and Deeper Impact’, sets 

out plans for the Institute’s long-term survival, 

sustainability and development, in order to realise its 

Vision 2030 and  ‘ideal end state’. The strategy affirms 

MISTRA’s future positioning as an independent think 

tank, entrenching its niche position with regard to the 

type of knowledge it produces and its independent 

organisational orientation.

A three-year plan (2018 -2021) dovetails with the 

long-term strategy and takes MISTRA to its 10-year 

anniversary in 2020.

The strategy is aimed at creating growth and expansion for 

MISTRA, and plotting a course for this. ‘Business unusual’ is 

the underpinning paradigm of the strategy, which provides for 

increased outreach and the exploration of different channels for 

giving MISTRA’s work wider reach. 

Staff members, the Board of Governors and the Council of 

Advisors were all consulted in the development and finalisation 

of the long-term strategy. 

Strategic Vision
An institute for research and reflection on domestic and global 

dynamics impacting on the advancement of South African 

society and humanity.

Mission
To advance South Africa’s development by addressing the 

complex challenges that straddle issues of nation formation, 

economic growth, social equity, science and technology, and 

the country’s positioning in a globalised world.

Objectives
The Mapungubwe Institute is a progressive think tank, broadly 

informed by the ideals of our Constitution, and committed to 

enhancing South Africa’s capacity to:

• develop and advance its paradigm of thinking and 

reservoir of knowledge in a wide variety of disciplines;

• advance the all-round development of South African 

society for the attainment of an improving quality of life;

• deepen South African democracy;

• promote African development and democracy by 

contributing to an inclusive higher growth trajectory 

through addressing questions of sustainability, social 

integration, and peace;

• advance South Africa’s global interests in the pursuit of 

peace and equitable development;

• contribute to global debates on socio-economic systems 

with an emphasis on the relationship between state, 

markets and societies; and ensure that the search for 

sustainable approaches to the Anthropocene continues 

while overcoming narrow national interests.

ORGANISATION 
Why the Mapungubwe Institute?
THE MAPUNGUBWE INSTITUTE CONDUCTS RESEARCH AND FACILITATES 
DISCOURSE ON STRATEGIC ISSUES PERTINENT TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
SOUTH AFRICA AND BEYOND. IT DRAWS LESSONS FROM THE PAST AND 
CONTRIBUTES TO CHARTING A COURSE TOWARDS A FUTURE OF PEACE, 
PROSPERITY, AND GENERAL HUMAN FULFILMENT IN OUR COUNTRY, ON THE 
AFRICAN CONTINENT, AND ACROSS THE GLOBE.

~ -----------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Business Philosophy
Strategic high-level interrogation of issues in an atmosphere 

that is free from the pressures of immediate applicability and 

application, as well as from considerations of sponsorship or 

sectoral interests. 

Key tenets:

• remain relevant to the challenges facing South Africa

• blend academic and experiential expertise among 

researchers and staff

• function as an autonomous, independent Institute

• interrogate the philosophical, theoretical and strategic 

underpinnings of our social context, and the events 

unfolding within it

Strategic Approach
MISTRA seeks to remain true to its founding values and to 

ensure that it continues to impact on intellectual, policy and 

public discourse through research excellence. The Institute will 

streamline and deepen resource mobilisation efforts to ensure 

long-term sustainability. That approach will be informed by its 

long-term objective to become a leading strategic research 

institute in South Africa with networks and partnerships 

throughout Africa, and a premier global research partner and 

point of reference on its core research. 

Funding/Resources
Public Benefit Organisation Status
As mentioned above, MISTRA had been accorded the status of 

a Public Benefit Organisation (PBO) by SARS, and this allows it 

to issue a Section 18A certificate which enables donors to claim 

the requisite tax benefit. MISTRA has also been granted a BEE 

Facilitator Status.

Corporate Donors
Anglo Platinum*

Argon Securities

Aspen Pharmacare

Discovery

Department of Science and Technology 

(DST) *
Exxaro

Harith General Partners *

Sishen Iron Ore Company (Pty) Ltd*

Menar Capital

Mountain Rush *

National Institute for the Humanities and 

Social Sciences (NIHSS)

Nstimbintle Mining*

Phembani Group *

Safika Holdings*

Standard Bank *

Simeka Holdings*

Yellowwoods * 

Local Foundations and Trusts
Batho Batho Trust*

First Rand Foundation*

Open Society Foundation for South Africa 

(OSF-SA)*
Oppenheimer Memorial Trust (OMT)*

Individuals
Barry Gilder

Geraldine Fraser-Moleketi

JP Landman

Reason Mabandla

Sonja De Bruyn Sebotsa

Tshilidzi Ratshitanga

Partners
Hollard 

University of South Africa (UNISA)
University of Johannesburg

Yellowwoods

*Contributed R500 000 or more      
# Beneficiary Shareholding

Resource Mobilisation
MISTRA’s Resource Mobilisation strategy includes the 

implementation of the MISTRA 2020 Endowment fund to 

ensure long-term sustainability and financial viability. 

The Institute reported income in excess of R22 million for the 

financial year 2017/2018 and in the financial year 2018/2019 

MISTRA reported an income of over R30 million.

Recognition of Contributors
MISTRA would like to acknowledge and express its warm appreciations to our donors for their generous contributions during this 

reporting year:
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Organisational Structure
MISTRA’s core organisation consists of three directorates: 

Research, Project Management and Operations, headed 

by three directors:  Director: Research;  Director: Project 

Management and Director: Operations respectively. These 

Directors report to MISTRA’s Executive Director, and sit on the 

Management Committee (MANCO) described below.  

The Management Committee (MANCO) is responsible for the 

day-to-day running of the Institute. 

MISTRA’s Executive Director, Joel Netshitenzhe, chairs MANCO 

which consists of: 

• Susan Booysen: Director: Research (from July 2018)

• Barry Gilder: Director: Operations (and acting Director: 

Research until July 2018) 

• Xolelwa Kashe-Katiya: Director: Project Management

• Gloria Britain: Company Secretary/ Human Resources 

Manager

• Lorraine Pillay: Finance Manager

The Board has delegated relevant financial authority to the 

Executive Director and other members of MANCO. 

MANCO met fortnightly, during the reporting period. So too 

did Directors and Senior Researchers to oversee  research and 

consultancy work and to make recommendations to MANCO for 

decisions regarding this work. 

MISTRA’s three directorates: 

Research 
Directorate

Project Management 
Directorate

Operations 
Directorate

The Research Directorate is organised 

into three faculties:

a. Political Economy
 This faculty deals with socio-

economic issues and their 

intersection with South African 

society and politics. Salimah Valiani 

was the Senior Researcher in the 

faculty during most of the reporting 

period. 

b. Knowledge Economy and Scientific 
Advancement (KESA)

 The KESA faculty deals with the 

logics of natural sciences and their 

relevance for social development, 

including such issues as discovery, 

innovation, incubation, adaptation, 

and quantitative analysis within 

South Africa. Zamanzima Mazibuko is 

the Senior Researcher for KESA.

c. Humanity Faculty
 The Humanity Faculty interrogates 

history, arts and culture, ideology 

and religion in relation to societal 

development. Dan Motaung is the 

Senior Researcher for the faculty.

The Project Management Directorate 
includes:

• Generic Project Management

• Consultancies

• Commissioned Research

The Operations Directorate consists of 

five main departments:

• Human Resources

• Finance and Resource Mobilisation

• Communications

• Publications

• Information Management

* 
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Office Accommodation
The Institute took occupation of its offices in Woodmead, 

Johannesburg in May 2010. The offices were provided as an 

in-kind donation by one of MISTRA’s core founding donors, the 

Simeka Group, initially for one year until May 2011. However, 

that arrangement was extended in early 2011 and has been 

sustained ever since. Expenditure on office rental is reflected as 

expenditure in the Institute’s financial statements and offset as 

an in-kind donation.  

Partnerships
A key element of the Institute’s approach to its research work 

is to facilitate the exchange of intellectual and experiential 

expertise on the issues it researches. For this reason, the 

establishment of partnerships with a wide range of institutions 

and individuals is key to the success of the Institute. We 

define ‘partnerships’ as those institutions with which we have 

formal, long-term relations expressed in a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU). 

During the reporting year contact was sustained with 

universities in South Africa, as well as a range of research 

institutions, public and private sector entities and individuals. 

There was also contact between MISTRA and some embassies 

and international research institutes. 

Discussions held resulted in a range of areas of collaboration 

covering MISTRA’s research projects; ideas for further research; 

joint events and access to university information resources. 

Partnerships in these areas were initiated or renewed in the 

year under review, and MISTRA currently has signed MOUs 

with the following institutions: the University of Johannesburg 

(UJ); the Human Science Resources Council (HSRC); the 

Department of International Relations & Cooperation (DIRCO); 

the Southern African Research and Documentation Centre, 

Harare, Zimbabwe. Good progress is being made with regard to 

partnering with Nelson Mandela University and renewing our 

partnership with the University of Pretoria.

Other organisations with which we collaborate without a long-

term MOU are mentioned under Consultancy Services. 
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Priority Research Projects (PRPs): overview 
During the reporting year, MISTRA concluded three of the 

eighteen PRPs undertaken by Institute since its inception. The 

three publications that resulted from the completed PRPs are 

reported on under the faculties below. 

Towards the end of the reporting period, researchers were 

conceptualising the PRPs on land reform and on South 

Africa’s future in relation to the Fourth Industrial Revolution.  

Simultaneously, researchers were working on the following four 

PRPs, scheduled for future completion:  

•  Epidemics and the Health of African Nations; 

• Geopolitics and Empire-building: What can we learn from 

the Past to Achieve Global Peace?

• Beyond the Tenderpreneurship Discourse: Models of Black 

Entrepreneurship and Black Economic Empowerment

– ‘The Arithmetic of Savings’.

In addition to the above, preparations were underway for a 

seminar relating to  MISTRA’s PRP on ‘Art: Yesterday, Today, 

Tomorrow’. The event, in the first quarter of the next reporting 

period, will help to position the research project. 

 
RESEARCH 
DIRECTORATE
MISTRA’S RESEARCH FOLLOWS FOUR STREAMS: 

• Priority Research Projects (PRPs), which are the core research areas the Institute has 
identified in consultation with its partners; 

• Commissioned Research (CR), which consists of research or related activities on behalf of 
other organisations from the corporate, civil society or public sectors (these are reported on 
in the Project Management section below); 

• a small selection of special research projects and 
• research partnerships where MISTRA works jointly with like-minded institutions.

MISTRA concluded

3 of 18
PRPs undertaken by the Institute

PRPs
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Special Research Projects

Whiteness, Afrikaans and Afrikaners: Addressing Post-Apartheid 
Legacies, Privileges and Burdens.
MISTRA concluded one of its special research projects in August 2018 with the publication of its 

book entitled Whiteness, Afrikaans and Afrikaners: Addressing Post-Apartheid Legacies, Privileges 

and Burdens. 

The book was the culmination of MISTRA’s ongoing work on nation formation and social cohesion, 

which had resulted in a report released in August 2014 titled Nation Formation and Social 

Cohesion: An Enquiry into the Hopes and Aspirations of South Africans. The report identified 

the need for further exploration of the aspirations of white South Africans. Consequently, in 

November 2015, MISTRA, in partnership with the Frederich Ebert Stiftung (FES) South Africa and 

the National Institute for the Humanities and Social Sciences (NIHSS), convened a roundtable on 

‘whiteness’ at Constitution Hill in Johannesburg. The papers and discussion at that conference 

were subsequently published in MISTRA’s book described above, which was launched on 30 

August 2018 at the Nelson Mandela Foundation in Johannesburg. 

The publication interrogates Afrikaans as part of the discourse on ‘whiteness’. It also explores 

different identities associated with Afrikaans and current thinking on the construction of 

‘whiteness’, as well as developments within the Afrikaans-speaking community. 

National Elections 2019
With the announcement in February 2019 of the date (8 May 2019) for South Africa’s general 

election, MISTRA immediately began preparations for a report on an analysis of the election. This 

report will be concluded soon after the elections are held, in the next reporting period. 

~GU■W■ 

Addressing Post-Apartheid Ugacies, 
Privileges and Burdens 

VOTING TRENDS 
25 YEARS INTO 
DEMOCRACY 
Analysiso!SouthAlrlca 's2019Electlon 
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Research Faculties and Projects
Knowledge Economy and Scientific Advancement (KESA) Faculty

Beyond Imagination
On 11 April 2018, MISTRA launched the book titled Beyond Imagination: The Ethics and 

Applications of Nanotechnology and Bio-Economics in South Africa at the Council for Scientific 

and Industrial Research (CSIR) in Pretoria. 

The publication considers the evolution of nanotechnology and bio-technology and their impact 

on society as well as the ethics of developing nanotechnology. It unpacks what the science of 

small particles, which includes genetic modification and reconfiguring the arrangement of atoms, 

means for us in South Africa. Beyond Imagination also examines lessons from other developing 

countries, like India, which are supporting these emerging technologies to foster development 

and build their economies. 

Epidemics and the Health of African Nations
During the reporting period MISTRA also continued its work on its research project into the socio-psychological, economic, 

scientific and political dynamics of epidemics. The research explores a continuum between the challenge of contending with 

epidemics and that of building health systems in Africa. The publication arising out of this PRP will include both conceptual/

theoretical chapters as well as case studies of African countries’ experiences (including Zimbabwe, Nigeria, Ghana, Kenya and 

South Africa). A colloquium was held at Emoyeni Conference Centre in Parktown on the 16th and 17th August 2018 for authors 

to receive feedback on their chapters from the research team and other external experts. The publication is due to be released 

in the next reporting period. 
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South Africa’s ‘Fourth Industrial’ Future
The Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) captures the idea of the confluence of new technologies and their cumulative impact on 

our world. Artificial intelligence can sometimes produce a medical diagnosis from an x-ray faster than a radiologist, and with 

pinpoint accuracy. In some instances, robots can manufacture cars faster and with more precision than assembly line workers. 

They can potentially mine base metals like platinum-group metals and copper - crucial ingredients for renewable energy and 

carbon cleaning technologies. New technologies are developing with exponential velocity, breadth and depth and are likely to 

have a profound impact. Policymakers, academics and companies need to understand why all these advances matter and what 

to do about them. Thus, MISTRA endeavours to investigate how South Africa is experiencing the onset of the 4IR and how it 

can harness this revolution while mitigating its risks; draw lessons from other developing countries on how they are engaging 

the phenomenon of the 4IR; and engage policy-makers across the spectrum on how best to prepare and position South Africa 

to take advantage of this new industrial era. In the reporting year, this research project was at the conceptual stages. 

The Future of Mining in South Africa: Sunset or Sunrise?
MISTRA launched its  publication entitled The Future of Mining in South Africa: Sunset or Sunrise? 

on the 12th of December 2018, with the participation of the Minister of Mineral Resources. This 

publication was the culmination of a research project exploring contemporary debates on the 

evolution and future of mining in relation to public policy. Future of Mining asks fundamental 

questions about the sector’s restructuring within the context of a  transformed domestic and 

global political economy. The authors also explore relationships between stakeholders in the 

sector: government, labour, mining enterprises and communities. 

The project employed transdisciplinary methodologies, drawing both from documented literature 

and stakeholders’ experiences. The ensuing publication probes long-term, systemic issues in the 

sector such as: Mining Vision 2030; platinum-led industrialisation; land use and dispossession in 

the platinum belt; state and capital relations in mining; women’s historic experiences in the sector; 

and historical accounts of mineworker organisation and lessons for the present. The writers also 

examine the future of mining in South Africa by exploring post-mine rehabilitation and opportunities 

presented by the transition towards the Fourth Industrial Revolution. MISTRA will build on this 

publication in the next reporting period by facilitating a number of ‘strategic reflections’. These 

social dialogues will aim to explore the details and nuances of the book’s themes.

 Political Economy Faculty
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Beyond Tenderpreneurship
MISTRA has also been engaged in a research project focusing on the discourse around models of black entrepreneurship and 

Black Economic Empowerment (BEE).

The South African government has introduced various BEE policies over the past two decades. These legislative interventions 

are designed to address persistent, race-based socio-economic inequalities and augment the black capitalist class in the 

country. But the successes of these interventions have been limited, and there is dispute amongst policy actors as to reasons 

for the limits to structural transformation. Furthermore, concerns have been raised  about the socio-economic outcomes of 

BEE, and whether it ameliorates systemic inequality.

This research project contributes to the discourse around BEE by examining the socio-economic impact of BEE legislation 

and the diverse experiences of black entrepreneurs in post-apartheid South Africa. The project includes an analysis of black 

businesses that have thrived without benefiting from large empowerment deals. The methodological design comprises 

a review of documented literature; interviews with policy makers and enforcers; in-depth analyses of case studies and 

comparative methods. The project will be finalised in the next reporting period.

Traditional Leadership
During the reporting period the MISTRA completed the PRP on traditional leadership, which 

culminated in a book titled Traditional Leaders in a Democracy: Resources, Respect and 

Resistance. 

The publications was launched on the 28 February 2019, at the National Institute for the 

Humanities and Social Sciences (NIHSS), Johannesburg. The Deputy Minister of Co-operative 

Governance and Traditional Affairs, Mr Obed Bapela, addressed the audience, noting that the 

book constituted an important contribution to the debates and policies relating to traditional 

leadership in South Africa. There were also presentations from some of the authors, and lively 

ensuing debate. Follow-up events are planned to take the discourse further. 

Humanity Faculty

TRADITIONAL 
lEADlRS 
Ina DEMOCRACY 
Resources, Respect and Resistance 

«- GUBWE 
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Geopolitics
MISTRA also continued its work on the research project into ‘Geopolitics and Empire: What can we learn from the millennia to 

achieve global peace?’ This research project seeks to identify prevalent global mega-trends and potential positive and negative 

effects of these on South Africa and the African continent. 

The pool of contributors is spread across the globe, and covers countries such as Jamaica, Argentina, Brazil, Nigeria and India. 

First drafts of authors’ chapters for the intended publication will be received early in the first quarter of the next reporting 

period, and a workshop will be held to discuss these. 

Land Reform
During the reporting period MISTRA initiated a research project on land reform, with a view to contribute fresh insights to the 

ongoing debates about land reform in South Africa. The issue is a sensitive one, and debate about it is often polarised along 

race, class and political lines. The land question therefore needs to be approached with great circumspection, and with sound 

research grounded in history and in the post-apartheid political and socio-economic landscape. MISTRA is therefore harnessing 

insights from a broad cross-section of society – including academics, researchers, traditional authorities, small and emerging 

farmers, big agri-business, youth, women, farm dwellers, rural and urban dwellers – in preparation for commissioning 

contributions to the project. This project is scheduled for completion in 2021.

Arts
In the last quarter of the reporting period, the Humanity Faculty prepared to jointly host an ‘Arts and National Development 

Imbizo’ with the National Institute for Humanities and Social Sciences. The Imbizo is aimed at helping MISTRA to refine its 

project on arts and development, which will be consolidated in 2019. 



MAPUNGUBWE INSTITUTE FOR STRATEGIC REFLECTION (MISTRA) ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | 2019   

24

 
PROJECT MANAGEMENT 
DIRECTORATE
The Project Management Directorate helps ensure the smooth running of MISTRA’s varied 
projects, including the Institute’s own priority research projects (PRPs), commissioned research 
projects, and consultancy projects. The project management team works to ensure that research 
projects are executed within the deadlines, scope and budget of internal requirements and 
external clients.  

This directorate consists of a Director: Project Management; a 

Project Management Officer and a Consultancy Services Officer. 

In addition, in March 2018, the directorate’s involvement in 

the Indlulamithi South Africa Scenarios 2030 necessitated the 

appointment of a Coordinator, on a short-term contract, to be 
responsible for the South Africa Scenarios 2030. 

The Directorate has, since inception, provided support 
to embed a culture of effective management within all 

MISTRA projects. The team does this through various means, 

including monitoring the progress of PRPs in collaboration 

with the Director: Research, to ensure timeous delivery on 

agreed outputs. The team is also responsible for continually 

evaluating existing systems and making recommendations for 

improvements; ensuring project teams are adequately staffed 

and able to take appropriate, mitigating action when project 

timelines cannot be met. 

In addition, the Project Management Directorate ensures clear 

and timely reports to and from members of staff involved in 

MISTRA projects.  

The Project Management team reports on the status of 

projects to MANCO fortnightly. That platform is then utilised to 

troubleshoot where challenges emerge. In addition to this, a 

quarterly reporting mechanism was piloted during the reporting 

period. This measure is intended to ensure that all MISTRA 

staff are briefed on the status of MISTRA’s various projects, and 

that a culture of performance monitoring is inculcated within 

MISTRA. In addition, staff have an opportunity to be informed 

about any new commissioned research or consultancy services 

projects, and the task allocation related to such work, over and 

above PRP coordination.

In addition to the provision of monitoring and evaluation 

support to MISTRA’s core research projects, the Project 

Management team is responsible for MISTRA’s commissioned 

research and consultancy services. Its responsibilities include:

• Overseeing the marketing and networking activities of 

Consultancy, in order to ensure the high visibility of MISTRA’s 

services to potential clients and partners.

• Preparation of high-quality proposals in response to relevant 

opportunities and the continuous identification of new 

opportunities for commissioned research and consultancy 

services.

• Overseeing the contracting and payment of external 

researchers, in collaboration with the Financial Manager and 

Project Co-ordinators.

• Ensuring good client management and communication. 

0 
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Commissioned Research
1. Platinum Group Metals (PGM) Exchange 
The Institute’s current research project seeks to determine the 

feasibility of establishing a PGM Exchange in South Africa.  This 

research is inspired by, amongst other factors, the ongoing 

global search for green technologies and the knowledge that 

South Africa accounts for more than 80 per cent of known 

global PGM reserves. The project is partially funded by the 

Department of Science and Technology (DST). The period under 

review saw several significant milestones achieved. These were:

• The creation of a tripartite agreement between three 

institutions: MISTRA, the Pan-African Investment and 

Research Services and the Johannesburg Stock Exchange 

(JSE). 

• High-level briefings with South Africa’s National Treasury in 

May 2018, and the South African Reserve Bank in June 2018.

• A colloquium that took place at the JSE in November 2018.  
MISTRA used this event to bring  key stakeholders together 

to formally communicate initial research findings, advise on 

progress on work done thus far and get feedback on the way 

forward. Diverse stakeholders from within the PGM industry 

offered their insights to the research team and vice versa.

• The receipt and collation of chapters. Seven chapters have 

been drafted and collated into a manuscript by the project 

leader, Dr Iraj Abedian, and these will be peer reviewed in 

the new financial year. 

The manuscript will be published in the next reporting period, 

following finalisation of the text and further consultations with 

labour representatives and with those institutions that will be 

responsible for implementation. 

2. PEU - Beyond Public Private Partnerships (PPP)
In May 2018 MISTRA produced a report titled Beyond Public 

Private Partnerships (PPP): Towards Innovation in Structuring 

and Financing PPPs. It was the result of a commission by the 

Tshwane Utilities Management System (TUMS) - through 

PEU Africa – for MISTRA to develop and report on a deeper 

understanding of Public Private Partnerships (PPPs), particularly 

their ability to meet the development needs of the country. 

One of the questions explored was whether PPPs can go beyond 

merely alleviating government of the burden of financing 

infrastructure and become vehicles for government industrial 

policy, including the establishment of black industrialists. The 

project, which began in January 2017, entailed one-on-one 

interviews as well as desktop research. It was concluded with 

the handover of the report to PEU Africa in May 2018. 

3. THEBE Foundation
The Thebe Foundation is a development arm of the Thebe 

Investment Corporation (TIC) Group, which was established to 

strengthen the corporation’s community development strategy. 

Thebe commissioned MISTRA to conduct research on its current 

operating context which will in turn inform Thebe’s organisational 

strategic review process. At the onset, four areas were identified: 

• political economy and policy discourse; 

• community development; 

• the state of society; and

• emerging issues. 

The report was finalised and submitted to the client in 

November 2018. The client intends to use the research findings 

and case studies to inform a ten-year strategy plan that will 

guide meaningful empowerment of communities, with an 

emphasis on participatory citizenship and self-reliance. 

4. Open Society Foundation, South Africa (OSF-SA)
The Open Society Foundation, South Africa (OSF-SA) 

commissioned MISTRA to undertake a study titled, ‘Understanding 

South Africa’s post-colonial democratic trajectory: a comparative 

analysis of post-liberation societies.’ The aim of the research 

project is to find and interpret evidence relating to whether 

South Africa’s current democratic trajectory is exceptional and/

or comparable to other post-liberation experiences. In answering 

this question, the research seeks to identify and compare 

those traits that characterise (or have shaped) the democracy 

trajectories of Algeria, India and Mozambique. During the reporting 

period MISTRA undertook a literature review, identified report 

contributors and also designed the questionnaire that will be 

utilised across all three case studies.

MISTRA aims to complete the report towards the end of 2019.

5. AngloGold Ashanti
MISTRA was approached by AngloGold Ashanti (AGA) to 
prepare a document on strategy to be presented at the 
AngloGold Ashanti Board strategy meeting 2018. Like all mining 
companies, AGA is operating in a fraught environment defined 
by volatility in commodity prices and in the socio-political 
environments in which it operates. This requires that AGA 
develops strategies that take these dynamics into account. 

The report covered political, economic and social considerations 
at both a generic level and, briefly, in relation to each of the 
company’s jurisdictions: South Africa, Tanzania, Ghana, Mali, 
Guinea, Brazil, Tanzania and Colombia.  
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6. DPME Jobs Summit Colloquium
In July 2018, the Department of Planning Monitoring and 
Evaluation (DPME) partnered with the Trade and Industrial 
Policy Strategies (TIPS) and MISTRA to organise a colloquium 
as part of the Presidential Job Summit process, involving the 
NEDLAC constituencies. The colloquium provided the social 
partners with a chance to explore substantive proposals in 
preparation for the Job Summit. The colloquium was held on 9 
and 10 July 2018 at the Development Bank of Southern Africa 
(DBSA). It hosted over 50 presentations by practitioners and 
experts, clustered into the five themes:

1. Economic sector-specific interventions

2. Small and micro-enterprise support

3. Education and skills

4. Inclusive growth, redistribution and transformation

5. Public and social programmes, labour market and anti-
corruption interventions.

The outcomes of the colloquium were used to inform and 
prepare possible programmes and projects for the Jobs Summit 
that took place in October 2018. 

7. DPME 25 Year Review
In 2018 the Department of Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation 
(DPME) initiated a review of  25 years of democracy in South 
Africa. The review aimed to reflect on and celebrate progress 
made since 1994, and to illuminate the challenges going 
forward in order to find ways to address them. 

MISTRA was invited to participate in the peer review of some of 
the chapters. It was the second time that the Institute has taken 
part in a review of this nature, with the 20-year review being 
one of MISTRA’s first consultancies. The chapters were:

• Nation Building and Social Cohesion 
• Economy and Employment
• Economic Infrastructure

8. Low Carbon Scenarios – Phase Two 
In April 2018 MISTRA, with the help of the Friederich Ebert 

Stiftung (FES), launched the second phase of its project 

exploring the possibilities for a transition to a low carbon 

economy. In the first phase of the project, conducted in the 

last reporting period, MISTRA facilitated a series of discussions 

around the possibilities for transition. The Institute found that 

the uncertainties engendered by the process of transitioning to 

a low carbon economy lend themselves to a scenarios-based 

exercise. The second phase of the ‘Low Carbon Scenarios’ 

project, which began in April 2018, saw MISTRA ranking 

variables according to certainty or impact, and developing the 

Key Driving Forces (KDFs) that were identified during phase 

one. In the period under review the following steps were taken 

towards developing scenarios: 

• Research briefs were written and commissioned. 

• Research papers were analysed by MISTRA.

• Research workshops were held, at which presentations 

addressed some of the gaps identified in the first draft 

variables.

• Variables were updated to take account of the latest wave 

of research. 

• A second core-team workshop was held to: 
– rank and yield the variables which will have the highest 

impact and have highest uncertainty

– choose 2-4 storylines

A proposal for Phase Three of the project has since been 

approved by the FES for implementation in the next financial 

year. This final phase of the scenario-building process will 

involve the following steps:

• Writing of the full scenarios and 

• Testing of scenarios against Sectoral Plans
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9. Indlulamithi 1 South African Scenarios 2030 
The Indlulamithi South Africa Scenarios 2030 initiative seeks 

to answer the key questions: What would a socially cohesive 

South Africa look like? And to what degree is this attainable 

by 2030? Under the leadership of Professor Somadoda Fikeni 

and with the support of a group of diverse stakeholders from 

government, labour, civil society and business, the project 

was first conceptualised in 2017. MISTRA is the primary 

research partner for this project, utilising a structured scenario 

development methodology. This included interviewing a range 

of people about social cohesion to explore what its dimensions 

would be – and what the long-term prospects are for achieving 

more social cohesion in South Africa. 

The interviews and months of intense research yielded 25 

variables impacting social cohesion. These variables were then 

distilled into three Key Driving Forces (KDFs): Societal Inequality; 

Resistance, Resentment and Reconciliation, (RRR) and 

Institutional and Leadership Capacity. This was done by working 

with Indlulamithi participants, drawing on the combined body 

of research, to determine possible trajectories for South Africa 

towards 2030. The next phase of the process was the writing of 

three scenarios for social cohesion in South Africa: IsiBhujwa, 

Nayi leWalk, and Gwara Gwara.

Before launching the Scenarios, the project team tested the 

narratives through workshops with people from business, civil 

society, government and the youth sectors.  The workshops 

were followed by briefings with key stakeholders as follows:

This led to the successful launch of the Scenarios on 21 June 

2018, with the keynote speaker being the President of South 

Africa, Mr Cyril Ramaphosa.

In July, a Project Coordinator was engaged to co-ordinate post-

launch activities such as national roadshows and stakeholder 

briefings. 

·.~ :_•.\ '- 1:· 
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THE UPS AND DOWNS OF A FALSE DAWN 
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The roadshows were launched in Eastern Cape, with the 

first event taking place in Nelson Mandela Bay on the 28 

August 2018. Indlulamithi partnered with the Mandela Bay 

Development Agency (MBDA) to host government, media 

and business representatives; this event was then followed 

by visits to other parts of the Eastern Cape - Makhanda and 

East London. In addition to briefings to private, public and civil 

society entities at national level, Indlulamithi has embarked 

on five roadshows which saw the project team briefing 

stakeholders in Eastern Cape, Western Cape, Kwa-Zulu Natal, 

Northern Cape and Gauteng in the months from August to 

December 2018.

Stakeholder Engagement: Critical Stakeholders

Political parties
• FF+   
• COPE  
• IFP  
• UDM  
• DA  
• EFF
• ANC NEC 
• SACP

Media
• The Big Debate SA 

(Thabiso)
• Media 24 (City Press)
• Primedia/Lead SA 
• SABC
• Tiso Blackstar

The State
• Speaker of Parliament  

– Baleka Mbete
• Chief Justice  

– Mogoeng Mogoeng
• The Presidency  

– Cyril Ramaphosa 
– Thabo Mbeki

Activities included ‘wind-tunnelling’ exercises with the Gauteng 

Provincial Government and the Department of Planning, 

Monitoring and Evaluation (DPME). February 2019 saw the kick-

off of the Leadership Dialogues that are aimed at exploring the 

policy and strategic implications arising from the scenarios.  The 

first dialogue was held on 31 January 2019 and this was with 

the private sector.  Dialogues with the civil sector and the public 

sector are to take place during the new financial year.

1 Indlu-la-mi-thi is the Nguni name for giraffe and it can be directly translated as “above the trees”. Indlulamithi South Africa Scenarios 2030 encourages big-picture and far horizons thinking 
on the future of our country.

• EXXARO (Executive 
Committee)

• Mining Council of SA 
(Chamber of Mines)

• Anglo American CEO 
Forum

• Banking Association 
South Africa (BASA)

• Business Arts South 
Africa

• MTN
• EXXARO (Board 

Meeting)
• BUSA
• BLSA (Executive Team)
• Anglo Platinum
• DeLoitte
• Kumba Iron Ore
• Sasol Executives
• ABSIP Conference

• NBI
• Sibanye Still Waters 

Board
• Anglo American Coal 

EXCO
• NACAAM 
• De Beers Group
• De Beers (Kimberly)
• Alulwani
• REMGRO

• Western Cape: Provincial 
Government, ANC (Western 
Cape), Multi-sector

• Mpumalanga: Steve Tshwete 
Municipality 

• Eastern Cape: Mandela Bay 
Development Agency (MBDA), 
Grahamstown & East London

• Northern Cape: Provincial 
Government

• KwaZulu-Natal: The NBI KZN
• Gauteng: Gauteng Office of the 

Premier, ANC Johannesburg & 
Briefings with various businesses

• Limpopo: Provincial Legislature

• NICOC
• National Advisory Council on 

Innovation (NACI) 
• National School of Government 

(NSG)
• ESKOM

• IDT
• Department of Planning, Monitoring 

& Evaluation (DPME)
• Secretaries’ Association of the 

Legislatures of South Africa (SALSA)

• Wits School of Governance
• Stellenbosch University – 

Recognition, Reparation, 
Reconciliation (RRR) Conference 

• Rhodes University, Grahamstown

• South African Council of Churches 
(SACC) – National Convention of 
South Africa

• Apostolic Faith Mission (AFM)
• United Nations (UN)
• GIZ

Engagements with business

Provincial Engagements

Engagements with the State and State-owned Entities (SOEs)

Other Engagements

Post – launch Engagements and National Footprint

ISBHUJWA 
............................. 
~ ........ ., ..... .., ..... ,_ .. ---
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Staff
The Human Resources function is managed by Gloria Britain, 

who also serves as the Institute’s Company Secretary. She 

oversees the recruitment, selection, on-boarding, development 

and retention of staff, which is guided by MISTRA’s Human 

Resources policy. This in turn is based on the Institute’s 

Values and Ethics Statement, which recognises that ‘MISTRA 

embraces diversity as an essential component of the way we 

conduct research, including diversity of ideas, approaches, and 

demographics’.

Interns
MISTRA is committed to promoting the development and 

growth of young researchers and other professionals and its 

internship programme is an important part of that commitment. 

The internship programme provides an opportunity for young 

researchers to receive on-the-job experience at MISTRA. During 

the reporting period, MISTRA’s intern programme was funded 

from the Institute’s budget.  

At any given time, MISTRA endeavours to have three interns 

in the programme. During the reporting year, the Institute had 

two interns in the Humanity and Political Economy faculties.

Volunteers
MISTRA receives offers from graduates who are willing to do 

voluntary work at MISTRA. 

In the year under review MISTRA had one volunteer, who was 

subsequently contracted to work as a communications co-

ordinator in Consultancy Services. 

Staffing Plan
Based on the Institute’s Staffing Plan for the financial year, 

MISTRA had 27 positions, inclusive of two interns.

By end of the reporting period, February 2019, 23 posts 

were filled with two staff and one internship position vacant. 

Applicants for the positions of Senior Researcher in the Political 

Economy Faculty and Researcher in Humanity were in the 

process of being recruited at the close of the reporting period. 

OPERATIONS 
DIRECTORATE
The Directorate Operations consists of the following departments: Finance and Resource 
Mobilisation; Human Resources; Communications; Information Management and Publications. 
These departments are all overseen by the Director of Operations. 
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Staff members as at 28 February 2019
The breakdown of the staff complement by function is as 

follows:

Function

Current (2018–2019)

No.               %

Core Business 16                 64

Support 9                 36

Total 25                100

*	A	number	of	the	members	of	support	staff,	such	as	the	
Executive	Director	and	Director:	Operations,	participate	
in	Priority	Research	Projects,	Consultancy	Services	and	
Commissioned	Research.	

Equity
In terms of Equity, MISTRA has a staff complement made up of 

19 black people, and 14 are women. No persons have declared 

living with a disability.

African Coloured Indian White Other Total

Women 14 2 2 1 0 19

Men 5 0 0 1 0 6

Total 19 2 2 2 0 25

COMMUNICATIONS AND OUTREACH
The focus of communications and outreach activities in the year 

under review was to increase the Institute’s reach and impact, 

ensuring that our research reaches the relevant policy- and 

decision-makers in the country.   

Media
MISTRA continues to raise its profile in the media through 

regular columns, articles and political analyses by MISTRA staff 

in major print, broadcast and online media platforms. Some 

notable media outlets that frequently disseminate MISTRA 

research include the Mail and Guardian, Mining Weekly; 

Engineering News; City Press; The Thinker; The Witness; Daily 

Maverick; News24; and Polity.org.

Social media has enabled the Institute to generate increased 

awareness of the MISTRA brand, its research and strategic 

reflections. The platforms have been instrumental in promoting 

our book launches and key findings from our research. Social media 

has also supported our new strategy to widely disseminate our 

research-in-progress through the dissemination of working papers.

MISTRA received editorial coverage 238 times in print, online 

and/or broadcast media in the reporting period. MISTRA was 

mentioned 2,133 times on social media platforms, either 

through retweets, likes and shares of our social media content. 

Twitter is our fastest growing platform with 5,467 followers as 

of the 28th February 2019, while our Facebook page had 1,660 

followers. MISTRA’s Twitter and Facebook accounts can be 

visited at @MISTRA_SA, and at https://www.facebook.com/

MapungubweInstitute/ respectively. 

Website
Our integrated digital marketing strategy also helped grow 

traffic to our website. The total number of website page views 

amounted to 369 460 for the financial year under review, with a 

total of 99 451 unique visitors. 

We are currently in the process of developing a new website, 

which will be launched in the next reporting year. 

Newsletter
The MISTRA newsletter is issued bi-monthly to update our 

stakeholders about new, upcoming and completed research 

projects, our strategic reflections, published papers, and other 

news relating to MISTRA’s engagement with the issues facing South 

Africa. The newsletter is distributed to a database of over 5,000 

recipients and placed on our website and social media platforms. 
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Mapungubwe Annual Lecture
MISTRA hosted Zimbabwean author and filmmaker, Tsitsi Dangarembga, for the 2018 Mapungubwe Annual Lecture. The lecture, 

titled, ‘Nervous Conditions: The Burden of Race, Class and Gender in the Construction of the Post-Colonial Order’ was hosted in 

partnership with the University of Johannesburg (UJ) on the 20th March 2018.  

STRATEGIC REFLECTIONS 
IN THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW, MISTRA HOSTED AND/OR CO-HOSTED WITH 
PARTNERS, VARIOUS WORKSHOPS, PUBLICATION LAUNCHES, CONFERENCES, 
THE MAPUNGUBWE ANNUAL LECTURE, ROUNDTABLES AND PANEL 
DISCUSSIONS. 
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Policy Workshops
Land and Traditional Leadership
On the 7th November 2018, MISTRA hosted a panel discussion 

with former President Kgalema Motlanthe and Prof Aninka 

Claassens on the landmark judgement of the Constitutional 

Court on land rights in mining areas. The Court ruled in favour 

of the land rights of the Lesetlheng community over the mining 

rights obtained by private companies in collaboration with 

traditional leaders.

The court judgement came as MISTRA was finalising its 

publication, Traditional Leaders in a Democracy: Resources, 

Respect and Resistance. The panel discussion drew attention to 

areas of traditional leadership currently being contested which 

feature both in this judgement and in MISTRA’s book. 

Platinum Group Metals (PGM) Roundtable 
MISTRA hosted its Third Annual Platinum Group Metals 

(PGM) Roundtable on 27 September 2018. MISTRA’s annual 

PGM roundtable is a day-long engagement seeking to identify 

and address some of the most challenging issues facing the 

PGM industry. MISTRA convenes producers and other industry 

leaders, national and provincial government representatives 

as well as academics to engage with how the country can 

develop PGM beneficiation and enhance demand beyond 

the current levels, through the development of a fuel cell 

industry, as identified in the Industrial Policy Action Plan (IPAP). 

The third annual PGM roundtable focused on ‘Demand-side 

Management: Cultivating a market for PGM-based fuel cells and 

Supply-side Management: Opportunities and challenges in fuel 

cell manufacturing’.
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Platinum Group Metals (PGM) Exchange
MISTRA hosted a colloquium on the prospects for a Platinum 

Group Metals (PGM) Exchange on 28th November 2018 as part 

of the consultation process involving a wide network of experts 

and policy-makers. The PGM Exchange project aims to explore 

the feasibility of establishing a Platinum Group Metals (PGM) 

Exchange in South Africa with a focus on the rationale as well as 

the political, economic and international implications of such an 

exchange. Participating stakeholders included the Pan-African 

Investment and Research Services, the JSE, the Department of 

Science and Technology, the Competition Commission, South 

African Reserve Bank, Department of Trade and Industry as well 

as various mining houses.
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Publication Launches
As described earlier in this report, MISTRA launched four 

publications during the reporting period. These were:  

•  Beyond Imagination: The Ethics and Applications of 
Nanotechnology and Bio-Economics in South Africa on the 

11th April 2018 at the CSIR International Convention Centre 

in Pretoria. 

• Whiteness, Afrikaans and Afrikaners: Addressing Post-
Apartheid Legacies, Privileges and Burdens in partnership with 

the Nelson Mandela Foundation, on the 30th August 2018. 

• The Future of Mining in South Africa: Sunset or Sunrise?, 
on the 12th December 2018 at the CSIR ICC. MISTRA 

partnered with the Department of Science and Technology’s 

Fourth Annual Science Forum for this launch. 
• Traditional Leaders in a Democracy: Resources, Respect 

and Resistance on the 28th of February 2019, at the NIHSS 

in Parktown. 

Networking Events
Our networking activities have included participation in, and 

attendance at, a range of conferences, workshops, seminars 

and other events of the public, private and civil society sectors 

domestically and internationally. These events served as an 

opportunity to contribute to the discussion of issues of interest 

to MISTRA as well as to extend the Institute’s network of 

intellectual collaborators and research partners. 

On the 10th April 2018, Senior Researcher KESA, Zamanzima 

Mazibuko, presented at the ‘Breakfast Indaba and PGMs Industry 

Discussion’ at the Johannesburg Country Club. Panellists included 

Mineral Resources Minister, Gwede Mantashe.

MISTRA’s Executive Director, Joel Netshitenzhe presented 

a paper on ‘Strengthening Regional Identity’ at 

the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural 

Organisation’s (UNESCO) expert meeting on ‘Production of 

Resource Material on the National Liberation Movements 

in the SADC Region: Regional Dimensions and Linkages’ on 

the 24th April 2018.  The meeting was held in Windhoek, 

Namibia in partnership with the Southern African Research 

and Documentation Centre (SARDC), the National Assembly of 

Namibia and Ministry of Arts and Culture as part of UNESCO’s 

African National Liberation Heritage Programme. Participating 

countries included Angola, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa, 

Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe. 

Researcher in the Knowledge Economy and Scientific 

Advancement (KESA) Faculty, Duduetsang Mokoele, participated 

in the Africa Innovation Summit (AIS) from the 6 to 8 June 2018 

in Kigali, Rwanda. Her presentation focused on ‘Innovation and 

Valuing Indigenous Knowledge Systems.’ 

Simultaneous satellite summits in Addis Ababa, Dakar 

and Pretoria were also hosted and Senior Researcher at 

KESA, Zamanzima Mazibuko represented MISTRA at the 

Pretoria event. Her paper focused on ‘Green Entrepreneurship 

and Industrialisation in Southern Africa.’ The AIS is under the 

patronage of President Paul Kagame of Rwanda and Former 

President Pedro Pires of Cabo Verde. It aims to promote 

innovation and structural transformation in Africa.

MISTRA participated in the 24th Annual National Congress 

of the Association for Mathematics Education of South 

Africa (AMESA) that took place from 29-25 June 2018 in 

Bloemfontein. MISTRA was invited to participate as a result 

of its publication on The Pedagogy of Mathematics in South 

Africa: Is There a Unifying Logic? The book seeks to unpack the 

impact of colonialism and apartheid on South Africa’s current 

mathematics teaching and performance, as well as to explore 

cutting-edge thinking about maths pedagogy.

The AMESA congress took place in partnership with the 

University of Free State under the theme: ‘Culture Meets 

Culture, Mathematics in and Around Us’. MISTRA was 

represented by Assistant Researcher at KESA, Anelile 

Gibixego and Research Intern, Nqobile Mangena.

Executive Director, Joel Netshitenzhe delivered a keynote 

address at the 3rd Annual BRICS Network University Conference 

Gala Dinner on the 5th July 2018 in Stellenbosch. The 

conference was hosted by the Minister of Higher Education 

and Training in partnership with the University of Stellenbosch. 

The conference took place under the theme ‘Unlocking BRICS 

Universities Partnerships: Postgraduate Opportunities and 

Challenges’. Netshitenzhe’s keynote focused on ‘Opportunities 

and Challenges in Ushering in a New Global Order: Role of the 

BRICS Network University’ .

MISTRA, in partnership with the Friedrich-Ebert-

Stiftung (FES) South Africa, hosted a research workshop 

on the ‘Transition to a Low-Carbon Economy Scenarios’ on 

the 10th July 2018. The research workshop formed part of 

a series of activities aimed at synthesising more research on 

the key question, ‘How Do We Build a Just Transition Toward a 

Socially Inclusive Economy by 2063?’ 

On the 16th August 2018, Executive Director Joel 

Netshitenzhe presented at the ‘Leadership Conversations’, 

hosted by the University of the Western Cape’s Student 

Development and Support Department (SDS). The ‘Leadership 

Conversations’ are a series of seminars through which the 

SDS encourages discussion using three great thinkers of 
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the liberation struggle – Oliver Reginald Tambo, Mangaliso 

Robert Sobukwe and Steve Bantu Biko – as torch-

bearers. Netshitenzhe’s presentation was titled: ‘The 

Role of Ethical Leadership in Ensuring Fundamental Social 

Transformation: Lessons from Oliver Tambo And Other Leaders 

of The Liberation Struggle’. 

Joel Netshitenzhe also delivered the keynote address at 

the International Platinum Association Annual Membership 

Meeting on the 25th of October 2018 in Muldersdrift. The 

address focused on ‘Transformation and Competitiveness in the 

Mining Industry’.

MISTRA participated in the 2018 Accelerating Inclusive Youth 

Employment Innovations and Solutions Exchange Conference on 

the 22nd and 23rd October 2018 in Stellenbosch. The conference 

was convened through a partnership between MISTRA, the 

National Planning Commission, the Presidency, Department of 

Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation, Yellowwoods, Harambee 

Youth Employment Accelerator and the Human Resources 

Development Council of South Africa. The conference aimed to 

mobilise, align and accelerate efforts to drive inclusive youth 

employment in support of the implementation of the National 

Development Plan (NDP). Researcher in the Political Economy 

Faculty, Khwezi Mabasa, represented MISTRA at the conference.

Executive Director Joel Netshitenzhe participated in a 

dialogue event organised by the Oliver and Adelaide Tambo 

Foundation on 15th November 2018, held under the 

theme: ‘Standing up, Speaking out: Putting Values, Ethics and 

Leadership into Action’. His presentation focused on OR Tambo’s 

Ethical Leadership Style and Values.

Skaftins1

On the 23rd May 2018, MISTRA hosted Dr Asghar Adelzadeh, 

Director and Chief Economic Modeler at the Applied 

Development Research Solutions (ADRS) in the USA. The 

skaftin’s objectives were to inform MISTRA’s staff about 

economic modelling tools which aid organisations in policy 

planning, especially in areas such as poverty, unemployment, 

inequality and economic growth.

On the 28 June 2018, MISTRA held a skaftin on ‘South Africa’s 

Mineral Resources and Distributed Dynamic Capabilities’. The 

presenter at the skaftin was Peter Hilsenrath, Joseph M. Long‘s 

Chair of Healthcare Management and Professor of Economics 

and Thomas Pogue, Associate Director of the Centre for 

Business and Policy Research and Visiting Research Fellow with 

the Institute for Economic Research on Innovation (IERI). The 

skaftin was held as part of MISTRA’s search for innovative ideas 

for long-term mining in South Africa.

Working Papers
As part of its new strategy for the active dissemination of its 

research work-in-progress, MISTRA issued working papers that 

highlighted key aspects of its work-in-progress. The working 

papers sought to leverage  developments and public discourse 

that were aligned to our research work-in-progress. Five 

working papers were released in the year under review, from 

MISTRA’s research on Traditional Leaders in a Democracy: 

Resources, Respect and Resistance and The Future of Mining in 

South Africa: Sunset or Sunrise? 

Global Go-To Think Tank Index
MISTRA was ranked in the 2017 Global Go-To Think Tank 

Index in the Top 50 Think Tanks in Sub-Saharan Africa out of 

a total of 664 think tanks. The index is produced by the Think 

Tanks and Civil Societies Program (TTCSP) of the Lauder 

Institute at the University of Pennsylvania, on the basis of a 

survey of a panel of over 1,900 peer institutions and experts 

from varied sectors around the world.

In 2010, a ranking list for think tanks with an annual budget of 

less than USD5 Million was created. This category recognises 

the work of smaller think tanks that produce influential research 

but might otherwise be edged out in the rankings by think tanks 

with larger budgets and staff. MISTRA is ranked at 37 in the Top 

Think Tanks with Annual Operating Budgets of Less Than  

USD5 Million.

PUBLICATIONS
The restructuring of MISTRA’s Publications Department, begun 

in the last reporting period, was completed in the year under 

review. One major outcome is that MISTRA began publishing in 

its own name, starting with Beyond Imagination: The Ethics and 

Applications of Nanotechnology and Bio-Economics in South 

Africa in April 2018. MISTRA subsequently published three more 

books in the reporting period, as well as an Annual Report and 

numerous consultancy reports. 

MISTRA has a contract with Jacana Media for the production 

and local distribution of its books, though final editorial and 

publication authority rests with the Institute. Under the terms 

of this contract, MISTRA’s books became available in South 

Africa from online merchants – as well as major bookshops – 

from April 2018.  

For international distribution of its books, MISTRA signed a new 

contract with the African Books Collective (ABC) in December 

2018. This partnership gives MISTRA exposure at European and 

US book fairs, and sales outlets on international merchants’ 

1 Lunchtime ‘brown bag’ discussions.
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websites. In addition, through ABC, MISTRA’s books will be 

distributed through not-for-profit online platforms in the next 

financial year. 

Another first for MISTRA publications in the period under 

review was the short film made, of roughly three minutes, to 

promote one of the Institute’s forthcoming books on Epidemics 

and Health Systems in Africa. This film was shown at MISTRA 

functions during the year, and excerpts will be used to help 

promote the book when it is launched in the next financial year. 

INFORMATION MANAGEMENT (IM)
The year under review saw significant changes to MISTRA’s 

information and technology management practices, with 

resulting improvements in data security and cost-saving. 

Measures included the appointment of a new service 

provider in October 2018 to help with the management of the 

Institute’s information, communication and technology (ICT) 

infrastructure. The service provider helped to relocate the 

server room from a shared facility to a lockable, non-shared 

facility. 

Another major achievement was to initiate projects to develop 

new document management, events management and website 

systems.  These projects are set to be concluded in the next 

financial year. 

IM also successfully registered MISTRA as a beneficiary on 

Techsoup, an NPO that offers huge discounts for software 

purchases. A new switchboard system was purchased and 

installed. Closely related to the new switchboard system, 

MISTRA doubled its fibre speed. This has significantly improved 

WiFi and internet access for staff and visitors.
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Audit and Risk Committee Report 

This report Is provided by the Audit and Risk Committee appointed In respect of the 2019 financial yaar of Mapungubwe 
lnsti1u1e tor Strategic Raflection {MISTRA). 

1. Members of tho Audit CommittH 

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee ere all independent, non-executive directors of the company and include: 

Dr Patricia Hanekom (Chairperson) 
Mr Peter Vund la 
Dr Sibusiso Sibisi 
Mr Loylso Ntshlkila 
Ms Sonja DeBruyn Sebotsa 

The Committee is satisfied that the members thereof have the required knowledge and experience as set out in Section 94(5) 
of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulation, 2011. 

2. Meetings held by the Audit and Risk Committee 

The Audit and Risk Com mitteee perfonns the duties laid upon it by Section 94(7) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 by holding 
meetings with the key role players on a regular basis and by the unrestricted aD;ess granted to the external auditors. 

3. External auditor 

The Committee satisfied itself through enquiry that the external auditors is independent as defined by the Companies Act 71 of 
2008 and as per the s1andards stipulated by the auditing profession. Requisite assurance was sought and provided by the 
auditors that internal governance processes within the firm support and demonstrate the claim to independence. 

The Audit and Risk Committee in consultation with executive management, agreed to the terms of the engagement. The audit 
fee ftir the external aucrn has been considered and approved taking into consideration such factors as 1he timing of the audit, 
the extent of the wort<: required and the scope. 

4. Annual flnanclal statements 

Following a review of the annual financial statements the Audit and Risk Committee recommend board approval thereof. 

s. Flnanclal Statements and Accounting Pollcles 

The Ccmmitee has assessed the integrity of the lnstib.Jte's accounting policies and annual flnanclal statements for the year 
ended 28 February 2019 and Is satisfied that they are appropriate and comply In all resp8Cts with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-Sized Entities requirements.The Commitee supports the opinion of the auditors 
with respect to the annual financial statements. 

6. Governance of Risk 

The Committee Is responsible for overseeing the governance of the risk management function incOfJ)Orllling strategic, 
operational, reputationel, project, financial, reporting, fraud, internal control, IT governance, legal and regulatory risks, amongst 
others. 
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MAPUNGUBWE INSTITUTE FOR STRATEGIC REFLECTION (MISTRA)
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Audit and Risk Committaa Report 

7. Going Concern 

Based on the Committee's assessment of the lnstttute's going concam review, the CommHee is comfortable in its 
recommendation to the Board regarding the annual financial statements and that the Institute will be a going concern for the 
next financial period. 

Dr Patricia Hanekom 
Chairperson Audit and Risk Committee 
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The directors are required by the Companies Act 71 af 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for 
the content and integrity of the annual financial s1a1ements and related financial information included in this report. It is their 
responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the company as at the end of 
the financial year, and the results of Its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with ltie International 
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-Sized Entities. The external aL1ditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual financial statements. 

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and 
Medium-Sized Entities and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and p11.1dent judgements and eetim ates. 

The directors acknowledge that they are uHimately responsible for the system of Internal financial control established by the 
company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet 
these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective 
manner. The standards indude the proper delegation of responsibilities within a ctearty defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout 
tile company and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the company's business is 
conducted In a manner lhet in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the company 
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known form& of risk acro6s the company. While operating rtsk cannot 
be fully eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls. systems end 
ethical behaviour are eppHed and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

111e directors are of tile opinion, based on tile information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. Ho!N8ver, any system or internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assu ranee 
against material misstetamant or loss. 

111e directors have reviewed the company's cash flow forecast for the year to 29 February 2020 and, in the light of this review 
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the company has, or has ac:cess to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

The external auditors are responsible for independently audiling and reporting on the company's annual financial statements. 
The annual financial statements have been examined by the company's external auditors and their report is presented on 
pages 6- 7. 

The annual financial statements set out on page 8, which have been prepared on lhe going concern basis, were approved by 
the directors on 07 August 2019 and were signed on its behalf by: 

Diractor Director 
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of Iha Mapungubwe lnstituta for 
Strategic Reflection (MISTRA) for the year ended 28 February 2019. 

1. Nature of business 

Mapungubwe Institute for Strategic Reflection (MISTRA) was Incorporated in South Africa with interests in tha non-profit sector. 
The company operates principally in South Africa and is engaged In research. The central focus of the Institute is in-depth 
s1rategic research as well as retreats and 'round-tables' bringing tngether leaders from various sect~ of South African society, 
to explore the country's challenges. The aim is to deepen the nation's understanding of macro-social dynamics and proposed 
courses of action that will take the country onto a higher traj&Ctory of development. 

Tnere have been no material changes to the nature of the company's busir,ess from the prior year. 

2. Rovlew of flnanclal results and activities 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting S1andard for 
Small and Medium-Sized Entities and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The accounting policies have been 
applied consistently compared to the prior year. 

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company are set out in these annual financial 
statements. 

3, Direc1ors' Interests In contracts 

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into in which directors or officers of the company had an interest and whir.h 
significantly affected the business of the company. 

4. Property, plant and equipment 

There was no change in the nature of the property, plant and equipment of the company or In the policy regarding their use. 

At28 February 2019 the company's investment in property, plant and equipment amounted to R542,852 (2018:R298,787), of 
which R385,373 (2018: R264,879) was added in the current year through additions. 

$. Prior period errors 

The company's 2018 financial statements were restated to correct the error of omission or or Investment in Lanitrilc (Pty) Ltd 
which was not disclosed. The impact of that non~isclosure is detailed in note 15 of this annual financial statements. 

6. Eventu after the reportin9 porlod 

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report 

7. Auditors 

Nyamezela Incorporated continued In office as auditors for the c;ompany for 2019. 
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8. Secretary 

The company secretary is Gloria Ann Britain. 

Po&tal address 

Business address 

PostNet Suite 586 
Private Bag X29 
Gallo Manor 
2052 

First Floor Cypress Plare North 
Woodmead Business Park 
142 Western Services Road 
Woodmead,Johennesburg 
2191 
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270 Granville Avenue 
Robertville 
1709 

Tel : +27-11-472 7955/ 7335/ 4920/ 7399 
Fax : +27-86-697 2822 
E-mail : info@nyamezela.co.rn 

Independent Auditors Report 

P.O. Box 161 
Strubens Valley 
1735 

To the shareholder of Mapungubwa Institute for Strategic Reflection (MISTRA) 

Opinion 

we have audited the annual financial statements of Mapungubwe Institute for Strategic Reflection 
{MISTRA), as set out on pages 9 to 18, whlctl comprise the statement of financial position as at 28 
February 2019, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of chaI,ges in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a surrvnary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fair1y. in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Mapungubwe Institute for strategic Refledion (MISTRA) as at 28 February 2019, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accon:tance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standard for Small and Medlum--sized Entities, and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 
of 2008. 

Completeness of Grant Income 

Without qualifying our opinion above we draw attention to the following matter: 
In common with similar organisations, it is not feasible for ttle organisation to institute accounting controls 
over certain income prior to the entry in the accounting records. Accordingly, It was Impracticable tor us to 
extend our examination beyond ttle receipts actually recorded. 

Basis for opinion 

We have conducted the audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the audit of the flnanclal 
statements section of our report. we are independent of the company in ac.cordance with the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA 
ewe) cdli.l olher inoep1::ndi;n1.;t: requirerni;1,L.::; af.)piicable h, i,,erfo1ming audits or financial stai1:1rnt:01 its in 
South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to perfonning audits in South Africa. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opJnlon. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with lntematlonal Flnanclal Reporting Standam for Small and Medium-sized Entities, and the 
requirements of the Companies Ad, No. 71 of 2008 of South Africa, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statemen~ that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Jlnanclal statements, the dlreaors are responsible for assessing the ,oompany's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going ooricem and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Director: Matsotso Vuso 
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P.O. Box 161 
Strubens Valley 
1735 1709 E-mail : info@nyamezela.co.za 

Auditor's reaponslbllHles for the audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonal>le assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that 
Includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance Is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect · a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are oonsidered material if, 
lndlvldually or In the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to Influence the economic deciSions or 
users taken on the basis of ttiese financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess 1he risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resutting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may Involve collusion, forgery, Intentional omissions, misrepresentations. or the ovemde 
of Interns I control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the Circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report lo the related disclosurfdS in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit e~dence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, stmdure and content of 1he financial statements, induding the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the undel1ytng transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, induding any significant deficiencies in internal control that we Identify 
during our audit. 

N~' Qtr,e2'1A <!( 9/l(_ . 
Nya ezela Incorporated 
Per at5o1so Vuso CA(SA) 
Registered Auditors 
1-4 August 2019 

Director: Matsotso Vuso 
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Statement of Financial Position as at 28 February 2019 
Figures in Rand Note{s) 2019 2018 

Restated• 

AaeellS 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 2 542,852 298,787 
Investments held In private companies 3 10,406,037 1,658,924 

10,948,889 1,957,711 

Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 4 3,158,377 5,446,925 
Cash and cash equivalenis 5 14,708,234 6,697,608 

17,866,611 12,144,533 

Total Aaaebl 28,815,500 14,102,244 

Equity and Uabllllles 

Equity 
Retained income 27,223,296 11,524,380 

Liabilitiea 

Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 6 1,213,570 2,286,354 

Current tax payable 7 378,634 291,510 

1,592,204 2,677,864 

Total Equity and Liabilities 28,815,500 14,102,244 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Figures in Rand 

Revenue 
Otner Income 
Operating expenses 
Operating surptus 
Interest received 
Fair value adjustments 
Finance costs 

Surplus before taxation 
Taxation 

Surplus for the year 
other comprehensive income 

Total compnhensive Income for the year 

Note(s} 

8 
9 

10 
11 

2019 

31,164,388 
4,437,497 

(23,062,973) 

12,538,912 

722,550 
2,540,490 

(15,812) 

15,788,040 
(87,124) 

16,698,916 

16,698,916 

2018 
Restated• 

21,211,285 
878,213 

(18,310,488) 

3,TT9,010 

276,208 
878,924 

4,934,142 
(225,364} 

4,708,778 

4,708,778 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
Retained Total equity 

Figures in Rand income 

RHfatad• Balance at 01 March 2017 6,816,602 6,815,602 

Surplus for the year 4,708,778 4,708,778 
Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive Income for the year 4,708,778 4,708,778 

R&statad• Balance at 01 March 2018 11,624,380 11,524,380 

Surplus for the year 15,698,916 15,698,916 
Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehenaive income for tha year 16,698,916 15,698,916 

Balance at 28 February 2019 27,223,296 27,223,296 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
Figures in Rand Note(s} 2019 2018 

Restated• 

Cash flows from operating actlvitiea 

Cash generated from operations 13 13,548,970 1,355,651 

Interest income 722,550 276,208 
Finance costs (15,912) 

Net cash from operating activities 14,266,608 1,631,869 

Cash flows from Investing actlvttles 

Purchase of property, plant and ~ulpment 2 (385,373) (264,879) 

Pu:-chase of Ii nancial assets {5,859,609) 

Net cash from investing activities (6,244,982) (264,879) 

Total ca$h movement for the year B,010,626 1,366,980 
Cash at the oeginning of the year 8,697,608 5,330,628 

Total cash at end of the year 5 14,708,234 6,697,608 
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Accounting Pollcles 

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting pollcles 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the lntema1ional Financial Reporting Standard for 
Small and M8dium-Sized Entitles, and the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The annual financial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis, and incorporate 1118 principal accounting policies set out below. Tiley are presented In south African 
Rands. 

These accounting policies are consistent with ttie prElYious pariOd. 

1.1 Signifieant juclgements and ;;ourcK of •~mation uncertainty 

Critical judgements in applying ar.counting ii,olicies 

In preparing the annual financial statemenlB, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historica• experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results in lhe future 
co..ild differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial statements. 

1.2 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the company holds for its own use or for rental to others and which 
are expecil!ld to be used for more than one period. 

Property, plant and equipment are carried at coot less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Ccst includes all costs inC1Jrred to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management 

Ccsts include costs incurrt!d initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequemly to add to, replace part of, or servic-.e it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 

Depreciation is provided for using the straight-I ine method to write down the cost, less estimated residua I value o'X!r the useful 
life of the property, plant and equipment, which is as follows: 

Item 
Furniture and fixtures 
IT equipment 
Computer software 
Leasehold improvements 

Avera9a useful life 
5years 
3 years 
3years 
2years 

The residual value, depreciation method and useful life of each asset ere reviewed at each annual reporting period if there are 
Indicators present that there hes be~n e significant change from the previous estimate. 

Gains end losses on disposals are cetarmined by comparing the proceeds with the canying amount and are recognised in 
pro flt or loss In the period. 
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Accounting Policies 

1.:3 lnveatmenta held In prtvate companies 

I nvestmen1s held in listed company are account:13d for at fair value through profit or loss. 

1,4 Financial instruments 

Financial Instruments at amortised cost 

Financial im;truments may be de:signated to be measured at amortised cost less any impairment using the effective Interest 
method. Thi5 ini.ludes trade and other receivables, loans and trade and other payables. At the end of each reporting date, the 
carrying amounts of a5sets held in this category are revleWed to detemiined whether there is any objective evidence of an 
impairment. If so, an impairment los:s is recognised. 

Financial instruments at fair value 

All other nnanclal instruments are measured at fair value through profit and loss. 

1.5 Tax 

Currant t.ax assets and llabllltles 

Current tax for current and prior period& i&, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect 
of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess Is recognised as an asset 

The tax liability rellects the effect of the possible outcomes of a review by the tax auHiorities. 

1.8 Leasas 

A lease ia classified as a llMnce lease if it transters substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the 
lessee. A lease is classified es an operating lease If it does not transfer substantially ell the risks end rewards incident.al to 
ownership. 

Operating leasH - lessee 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 0n a straight-line basis over the lease term except in cases where 
another systematic basis is representative of the. time pattern of the benefit from the leased asset, even if the receipt of 
payments is not on that basis, or where the payments are structured to increase in line with expected gen&ral inflation 

1.7 lmpainnent of aaseta 

The company assesses at each r8J)Ortlng date whether there is any indication tha an asset may be impaired. 

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset If it ie not 
possible to e5timate the recoverable amount of the lndlvldual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is determined. 

If an impairment loss subsei;iuently re~rsee, the carrying amount of the asset {or group of related assets} is increased to the 
revised es1imate of its recoverable amount, but not in excess of the amount that would have been dete,mined haci no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or group of assets) in prior years. A reversal of Impairment Is recognised 
Immediately in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 
Figures in Rand 

1,8 Employ1111 b11neflts 

Short-term employee benefits 

2019 2018 
Restated• 

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as leave pay and 
sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care). are recognised in the period in which the service is 
rendered and are not discounted. 

1.9 Granl income 

Grants are recognised when there Is a reasonable assurance that tt,e Institute will comply with Iha conditions attached to them 
and the donations or granll'I will be received. Grants are recogni:sed as income over the period neces&ary to match them with 
the related cost thet they are Intended to compensate. 

A grant that b~me& receivable as compensation fer the expenses and losses already incu11ed or for the purpose of giving 
Immediate financial support to the entity with no future related cost is recognised as income for the period In which 11 becomes 
receivable. 

Grants relali~ to income are presented as a credit in the income statement (separately). 

• see Note 15 
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Fii;ures in Rend 

2. Property, plant and equipment 

2019 

Cost or Accumulated Carrying value 
rcwa1uatlon depreciation 

Furniture and fixtures 693,831 (530,294) 
IT aquipment 647,151 (447,903) 
Computer software 1,552,423 (1,372,359) 
Leasehold improvements 245,406 (245,405) 

Total 3,138,813 (2,595,961) 

Reconciliation of property, plant and oqulpm•!nt - 2019 

F umitu re and fodu res 
IT equipment 
Computer software 
Lea5eliold improvements 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipm,,nt • 2018 

Furn I tu re and fixtures 
IT equipment 
Computer software 
Leasehold improvements 

• See Note 15 

163,537 
199,248 
180,064 

3 

542,1152 

Opening 
balance 

134,804 
163,979 

1 
3 

298,787 

Opening 
balan~• 

13,752 
95,855 

1 
3 

109,811 

Cost or 
revaluation 

633,173 
604,118 

1,352,729 
245,408 

2,835,428 

Additions 

60,658 
125,021 
199,694 

386,373 

Additions 

130,426 
134,453 

264,879 

2019 

2018 

2018 
Restated• 

Accumulated Carrying value 
depreciation 

(498,369) 134,804 
(440,139) 163,979 

(1,352,728) 1 
(245,405) 3 

(2,536,641) 298,787 

Depraclatlon Closlng 
balance 

(31,925) 163,537 
(89,752) 199,248 
(19,631) 180,064 

3 

(141,308) 642,862 

Depreciation Closing 
balanee 

(9,374) 134,804 
(66,329) 163,979 

1 
3 

(75,703) 298,787 
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Figures in Rand 

3. Investments held in private "ompanlee 

Encha Group Limited 
Mountain Rush Trading 6 (Pty} Ltd 
Lanitrix (Ply) Ltd 

2019 

At falrvalua 
2019 

65,813 
5,019,013 
5,321,211 

10,406,037 

2018 
Restated~ 

At falrvalua 
2018 

412,827 

1,246,097 

1,658,924 

Fair values or Investment in private equity instruments are presen1ed based on the application of reasonable fair value 
assumptions. 

4. Trade and other rocalvatllH 

Trade receivables 2,994,980 5,353,275 
Employee costs in advance 53,000 93,650 
VAT 110,417 

3,158,377 5,446,925 

6. Cash and cash equlvalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

Cash on hand 2,080 2,459 
Bank balances 14,706,154 6,695,149 

14,708,234 6,697,608 

Included in the bank balance is the Standard Bank Current Account amounting to R 1,433,892.39, the Investment Account 
R13,248,084.09 and thG Donation Account R24, 177.16 tor th8 year end February 2019. 

• see Note 15 
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Figures in Rand 

6. Trade and other payables 

Accruals 
Bonus accrual 
Leave accrual 
Other payables 
Trade payables 
VAT 

7. CurNlflt tax payable (NIC9Ml.bl0) 

2019 

524,710 
513,637 

15,368 
159,855 

1,213,670 

2018 
Restated* 

78,320 
459,609 
387,834 
397,420 
280,126 
683,045 

2,286,364 

The entity engaged In other Insignificant trading acthlltles during the current year which were subject to oormal income tax. 

8. Revonue 

Commissioned wor1< income 
Grant Income 
In-kind donations 
Speaker's fees 

8. Other income 

DMdend income received from Lanr.rix (Pty) Ltd 
Dividend income received from Mountain Rush Trading 8 (P1y) Ltd 
Sale of publicatiornJ 

10. Fair value adjustments 

Appreciation Ompairment) of investment in Encha Group Limited 
Appreciation (Impairment) of investment in Mountain Rush Trading 6 (Pty) Ltd 
Appreciation (Impairment) of Investment in Lanitrix (pty} Ltd 

11. Finance coatB 

Interest expense 

• see Note 15 

10,327,199 
19,346,882 

1,490,307 

31,164,388 

1,421,886 
2,838,153 

177,458 

4,437,497 

(347,014) 
(1,187,610) 
4,075,114 

2,540,490 

15,912 

5,372,132 
14,815,702 

785,126 
238,325 

21,211,285 

861,000 
17,213 

878,213 

(367,173) 

1,246,097 

878,924 
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Figures in Rand 2019 2018 

Restated· 

12. Auditors' remuneralion 

Fees 58,884 56,080 

13. Cash generated from operations 

Surplus before taxation 15,786,040 4,934,142 
AdJuslments for: 
Depredation and amortisation 141,308 75,703 
Interest received (722,550) (276,208) 
Finance costs 15,912 
Fair value adjustments (2,540,490) (878,924) 
Changn In working capltal: 
Trade and other receivables 1,941,534 (3,569,454) 
Trade and other payables (1,072,784) 1,070,392 

13,548,970 1,355,651 

14. Dlr"tors' remuneration 

ExeGIJtive 

2019 

Emoluments Total 
Executive Director 1,479,959 1,479,959 
Direclor Operations 1,144,978 1,144,978 
Finance Manager 944,214 944,214 

3,569,151 3,569,151 

2018 

Emoluments Total 
Executive Direc1or 1,405,209 1,405,209 
Director Operations 1,087,049 1,087,049 
Finance Menager 901,096 901,096 

3,393,354 3,393,364 
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Figures in Rand 

15. Prior period errors 

2019 2018 
Restated• 

Fair value adjustments of R1 ,246,097 on 111e investment in Lanitrix (Ply) Ltd were incorrectly omitted from lhe financial 
statements Of 201B. The financial statemerrts of 2018 have been restawd to correct this error. The effect of the restatement on 
those financial statements Is summartsed below.There Is no effect in 2019. 

Statement Of Financial Position 
Investments held in private companies 

Profit or Loss 
Fair Value adjustments 

16, Going c;oncam 

1,246,097 

1,246,097 

The annual financial statements have been prepared on 1he basis of accoun1ing policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future opera1ions and that lhe reallsa!lon of assets and sattiement of 
liabilities, contingent obliga1ions and commitments will occur In !tie ordinary course of busine9s. 

17. Events after the reporting period 

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue on 07 Augus: 2019 by the Board of Directors of the company.The 
directors are not aware of any material evenVs which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report. 

18. Board remuneration 

This is a volun1ary and in-kind donation by the members of the Board for their contribution to MISTRA. The total non-executive 
directof$' remuneration decreased from R423 000 in the prior year to R387 000 for 1he year ended February 28,2019. 
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2019 2018 

Restated., 

Revenue 
Commissioned work income 10,327,199 5,372,132 
Grants 19,346,882 14,815,702 
In-kind donations 1,490,307 785,126 
Speaker's fees 238,325 

8 31,164,388 21,211,286 

Other income 
Dividend income received from L.anitrix (Pty) Ltd 1,421,886 
Dividend Income received from Mountain Rush Trading 6 (Pty) Ltd 2,838,153 861,000 
Fair value adjustments 10 4,075,114 1,246,097 
Interest received 722,550 276,208 
Sale of publications 177,458 17,213 

9,235,161 2,400,518 

Expenses {Refer to page 19) (23,062,973) (18,310,488} 

Operating surplus 17,336,676 5,301,315 
Finance costs 11 (15,912) 
Fair value adjustments 10 (1,534,624) (367,173) 

(1,660,536) (367,173) 

Surplus before taxation 15,786,040 4,934,142 
Taxation {87,124) (225,384) 

Surplus for the year 15,698,916 4,708,778 
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Res1ated • 

Operallng expanses 
Accounting fees (28,050) 

Advertising (41,230) {61,253) 

Auditors remuneration 12 (58,884) {56,080) 

Bank charges (29,158) (22,863) 

Cleaning (770) (815) 

Conferences and ONOrkshops (573,613) (357,234) 

Consulting and professional fees (57,933) (140,000) 

Delivery expenses (68,051) {48,398) 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments (141,308) (75,703) 

Employee coats {15,958,864) (13,369,168) 

Ge>vemanc:e (2,900) 

IT expenses (560,172) {4B2,284) 
Insurance (46,809) (38,914) 

Lease rentals on operating lease (1,163,624) (1,079,273) 

Legal expenses (4,443) {31,020) 

Municipal expenses (268,943) (268,819) 

Office supplies (6,436) 

other expenses (150,387) (139,247) 
Placement fees (18,717) {1,319) 

Postage (19,616) (5,024) 

Printing and stationery (193,284) (168,968) 
Publications (657,543) (520,985) 

Publications purchases and subscriptions (40,577) (115,506) 

Repairs and maintenance (22,472) {20,064) 

Research and development costs {2,511,954) (937,945) 

Sec:tJrlty (14,491) (2,154) 

Speakers fees (50,000) (100,000) 
Staff welfare (16,987) {19,235) 
Stra tag le reflections (177,802) (24,976) 

Subscriptions (6,838) (580) 

Telephone and fax (15,924) (12,921) 

Training (11,920) (9,900) 

Travel - local (158,958) (157,529) 
Travel - overseas (12,365) (7,947) 

Website maintenance (6,514) 

(23,062,973) {18,310,488) 




